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“Dare To Be Naïve.”
Buckminster Fuller

Crooked Farmer Goes to Jail and Must Pay $2.5 Million in Restitution
Defendant Ronnie Jolly pleaded guilty to crop insurance fraud, money laundering, and conspiring to defraud the United States and to 
commit mail or wire fraud. The Government sought restitution of monies paid by the crop insurance program and Jolly moved to 
avoid or limit the orders of restitution. 
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In United States of America v. Ronnie Jolly, CRIMINAL No. 5:18-32-KKC, United States District Court, E.D. Kentucky, Central 
Division, Lexington (November 1, 2021) the court dealt with the restitution order. 
FACTS
In his plea agreement, Jolly agreed that he owned and rented certain farmland. He agreed that, from 2010 to early 2016, he made 
material misrepresentations on paperwork regarding the federal crop insurance policies that covered his crops and that he also 
procured federal crop insurance policies in the names of other people. He agreed that he did all of this to obtain money from the 
federal government to which he was not entitled. He also agreed that, from 2014 to 2016, he made material misrepresentations to 
private crop insurance companies to obtain money to which he was not entitled. 
After a sentencing hearing conducted on August 13, 2021, the Court entered a judgment sentencing Jolly to a prison term of 36 
months. Prior to the sentencing hearing, the government filed a motion seeking restitution of $2,955,163. 
The government has identified two victims of Jolly’s fraudulent conduct. It asks the Court to order restitution in the amount of 
$2,365,214 payable to the United States Department of Agriculture-Risk Management Agency (“USDA RMA”) and $589,949 payable 
to Sompo International. Sompo was formerly named ARMtech Insurance Services, Inc. The parties have referred to Sompo as 
ARMtech in their briefs, and the Court will do the same in this opinion. 
As to the restitution requested for USDA RMA, the amount requested represents the indemnity payments received by Jolly on the 
federal crop insurance policies at issue less any premiums paid on policies that were held in the names of actual farmers. 
Jolly argued that he should be ordered to pay restitution of only $238,937 to ARMtech and nothing to USDA RMA. Jolly made clear 
at the restitution hearing that he does not contest the government’s calculations as to the indemnity payments he received or the 
premiums paid. Instead, he makes three legal arguments that any amount above $238,937 to ARMtech should be excluded from his 
restitution obligation. 
The victims, the USDA Risk Management Agency and ARMtech Insurance Services, Inc., have suffered compensable losses. 
ARMtech Insurance Services submitted a request for restitution in the amount of $238,937 for lost income and $350,289 for necessary 
other expenses. The request for restitution in its entirety will be provided to the Court. 
By its plain language the MVRA does not prohibit the Court from ordering more restitution than that identified in the Presentence 
Report (PSR). Instead, if the PSR does not set forth sufficient information for the Court to fashion a restitution order, the Court may 
request additional information. The Court permitted briefing on the restitution issue and conducted a hearing on the government’s 
restitution request. Jolly argued that he should not be ordered to pay back all indemnity payments he received because some of those 
payments “may have been legitimate.” Pursuant to the crop insurance regulations, however, the policies were voided due to Jolly’s 
admittedly material misrepresentations regarding the policies. 
Since, Jolly conceded that he misrepresented material facts relating to all the policies at issue. Thus, the relevant crop insurance 
policies are void, and Jolly is entitled to nothing from the insurance. 
The MVRA provides that a restitution order must require the defendant to reimburse the victim for lost income and certain necessary 
expenses including “expenses incurred during participation in the investigation or prosecution of the offense or attendance at 
proceedings related to the offense.” 18 U.S.C.A. § 3663A(b)(4). 
There is no information from which this Court could determine whether ARMtech incurred the claimed expenses as part of the 
government’s investigation or criminal proceedings or whether the expenses were incurred at the government’s invitation or request. 
Accordingly, the Court could not order that Jolly pay this amount in restitution. 
The MVRA explicitly prohibits the Court from considering the economic circumstances of the defendant when determining the full 
amount of each victim’s losses. To the extent that Jolly asks the Court to consider his economic circumstances in determining the full 
amount of restitution owed, the Court must deny that request. 
Since the Court could not find that Jolly is financially incapable of paying any amount of restitution. The Court, therefore, ordered that 
Jolly pay the full amount of restitution immediately.  When Jolly’s supervised release commences, Jolly must pay any unpaid portion 
of his restitution at a rate to be determined by his probation officer taking into account Jolly’s financial circumstances at that time. 
Finally, the government requests that certain defendants in other cases involving crop insurance fraud be made jointly and severally 
liable with Jolly for a portion of the restitution owed by him. Defendant Michael McNew was Jolly’s insurance agent. Defendants 
Douglas Chad Snedegar and Timothy Douglas Snedegar were Jolly’s insurance adjusters. The government asserts that these 
defendants were Jolly’s coconspirators. It asks that the Court order that these defendants be jointly and severally liable with Jolly for 
the restitution owed by him and ordered that those defendants be made respondents in this action and will grant them the opportunity 
to respond to the government’s request for joint and several liability. The court ordered the alleged co-conspirators to appear and 
defend whether they are obligated to pay restitution to the government concurrently with Jolly. 
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ZIFL OPINION
Insurance criminals have no shame. After admitting the extensive nature of his fraud Jolly had the unmitigated gall to try to limit, or 
eliminate, the restitution ordered. He succeeded in limiting what was to be paid to the private insurer to only indemnity payments and 
failed on his obligation to repay the crop insurance program he admittedly defrauded. The government should take all of Jolly’s assets 
up to the amount he stole and he should be required to spend all of the time ordered in the grey-bar-hotel.

“Don’t hope that events will turn out the way you want, welcome events in whichever way they happen: this is the path to peace. — 
Epictetus 
“Planning for the future without a sense of history is like planting cut flowers.” — Daniel Boorstin
“Patience is a necessary ingredient of genius.” —  Benjamin Disraeli 
“Happiness depends on being free, and freedom depends on being courageous.” – Pericles
“I have not failed. I've just found 10,000 ways that won't work.” – Thomas Edison
“Anyone who has never made a mistake has never tried anything new.” — Albert Einstein 
“The top experts in the world are ardent students. The day you stop learning, you’re definitely not an expert. — Brendon Burchard
“Ambition is a dream with a V8 engine.” – Elvis Presley
“There's zero correlation between being the best talker and having the best ideas.” — Susan Cain
“You never know what you can do until you try, and very few try unless they have to.” – C.S. Lewis

SINCE INSURANCE FRAUD IS A FELONY CHARGING MISDEMEANORS WASTEFUL
Following a preliminary hearing, Sanjoy Banerjee, a physician, was charged with two counts of presenting a false or fraudulent health 
care claim to an insurer, a form of insurance fraud and three counts of perjury. The superior court denied Banerjee’s motion to dismiss 
the information as unsupported by reasonable or probable cause and he sought a writ of prohibition to eliminate the charges. In Sanjoy 
Banerjee v. The Superior Court of Riverside County, The People, Real Party in Interest, E076291, California Court of Appeals, Fourth 
District, Second Division (October 5, 2021) the Court of Appeals prohibited the perjury counts and allowed the insurance fraud 
charges to go forward. 
INTRODUCTION
Banerjee petitioned for a writ of prohibition, directing the superior court to vacate its order denying his Penal Code section 995 motion 
and to issue an order setting aside the information. The People claim the evidence supports a strong suspicion that Banerjee committed 
two counts of insurance fraud and three counts of perjury. 
Between 2014 and 2016, Banerjee billed a workers’ compensation insurer for services he rendered to patients through his professional 
corporation and through two other legal entities he owned and controlled. The insurance fraud charges are based on Banerjee’s 2014-
2016 billings to the insurer through the two other entities. The perjury charges are based on three instances in which Banerjee signed 
doctor’s reports, certifying under penalty of perjury that he had not violated “section 139.3.” 
BACKGROUND
Banerjee is charged with violating Penal Code section 550, subdivision (a)(6), a form of insurance fraud. The statute makes it a crime 
to “[k]nowingly make or cause to be made any false or fraudulent claim for payment of a health care benefit.” The elements of the 
crime are (1) the knowing presentation of a false claim for payment of a health care benefit, (2) with the intent to defraud the recipient. 
Insurance fraud is a specific intent crime; the defendant must specifically intend to defraud a person with a false or fraudulent claim. 
The crime is complete upon the presentation of the claim, regardless of whether anyone is defrauded by or anything of value is taken 
or received in consideration for the claim. 
A physician who refers to or seeks consultation from an organization in which the physician has a financial interest must disclose this 
interest to the patient in writing at the time of the referral. 
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Banerjee’s Formation of Three Service Provider Entities

Banerjee is a licensed physician, specializing in pain management.  He formed his professional corporation, Sanjoy Banerjee, M.D., 
Inc., in 2005, and in 2010, he began operating the corporation under the fictitious name, PPCC. Kensington and Rochester were 
formed in 2014. The articles of organization for Kensington and Rochester state that they were to be managed by their members and 
identify Banerjee as their sole member. Statements of information for Kensington and Rochester, filed in 2014, identify Kensington’s 
type of business as a “clinical diagnostic and reference laboratory” and Rochester’s as an “ambulatory surgical center.” 
BHHC’s Investigation of Banerjee

Gordon Oard, an investigator for BHHC, was the only witness who testified at the preliminary hearing. Oard was tasked with 
investigating “suspicious” claims and service providers for BHHC, and he began investigating Banerjee in 2017. Oard discovered that 
Banerjee had been billing BHHC through three legal entities, namely, PPCC, Kensington, and Rochester, which Banerjee owned and 
operated from the Wildomar location. 
The insurance fraud charges in counts 1 and 2 are based on Banerjee’s aggregate billings to BHHC, through Kensington and 
Rochester, between 2014 and 2016. The prosecutor argued that these billings were false and fraudulent because Banerjee violated 
section 139.3(a) by referring the patients to Kensington and to Rochester-entities in which he had a financial interest-without 
informing BHHC that he had a financial interest in Kensington and Rochester. In sum, defense counsel argued that Banerjee did not 
violate section 139.3(a) and was therefore not guilty of insurance fraud or perjury. 
DISCUSSION
It is a settled principle of statutory construction that, where exceptions to a general rule are specified by statute, other exceptions are 
not to be implied or presumed. 
A physician’s disclosure to a patient that the physician has a financial interest in an organization to which the physician refers the 
patient or seeks a consultation makes perfect sense as a means of informing the patient that the physician has a conflict of interest with 
the organization, regardless of whether the services for which the patient is referred make the referral unlawful under section 139.3(a). 
The government violates a person’s Fifth Amendment right to due process of law “by taking away someone’s life, liberty, or property 
under a criminal law so vague that it fails to give ordinary people fair notice of the conduct it punishes, or so standardless that it 
invites arbitrary enforcement.” (Johnson v. U.S. (2015) 576 U.S. 591, 595.) 
Section 139.31(e) provides: “The prohibition of section 139.3 shall not apply to any services for a specific patient that is performed 
within, or goods that are supplied by, a physician’s office….” Banerjee claims that section 139.31(e) is unconstitutionally vague 
because it does not specify what “‘within… a physician’s office’” means, and because other parts of section 139.31 do not provide 
guidance. 
Our interpretation of the physician’s office exception of section 139.31(e) means that the exception applied to Banerjee’s referrals of 
patients to Kensington and Rochester (§ 139.3(a)), and that Banerjee did not violate section 139.3(a) by referring patients for services 
specified in section 139.3(a) to Kensington and Rochester. Thus, Banerjee’s acts of signing three doctor’s reports, under penalty of 
perjury, certifying to BHHC that he had complied with “section 139.3” was not false (§ 118). 
Insurance Fraud

The People’s theory for the insurance fraud charges is that Banerjee presented false and fraudulent billings to BHHC for services 
described in Labor Code section 139.3(a), after he referred the patients to Kensington and Rochester for the services, in violation of 
Labor Code section 139.3(a). Penal Code section 550, subdivision (a)(6), a form of insurance fraud, is committed when the defendant 
knowingly makes or causes to be made any false or fraudulent claim for a health care benefit. Insurance fraud is a specific intent 
crime; the defendant must specifically intend to defraud a person with a false or fraudulent claim. The evidence adduced at the 
preliminary hearing shows that the superior court had probable cause to believe that Banerjee was guilty of the insurance fraud 
charges. 
The evidence showed that, between 2014 and 2016, Banerjee presented false and fraudulent claims for health care benefits to BHHC 
through Kensington and Rochester, with the specific intent to defraud BHHC. Banerjee’s billings through Kensington and Rochester 
were for substantially higher amounts than Banerjee had previously billed BHHC for the same or similar services that he provided 
solely through PPCC, and that BHHC had been billed by the group practice with whom Banerjee had formerly practiced. Banerjee did 
not inform BHHC that he owned and operated Kensington and Rochester; and in one instance, Banerjee double billed BHHC for two 
epidural injections provided to the same patient on the same day, through PPCC and Rochester. The Rochester billing for the two 
epidural injections was approximately $9,000 higher than the total billing for the patient through PPCC. 
The record also supports a strong suspicion that Kensington and Rochester were sham entities, and that Banerjee formed Kensington 
and Rochester with the specific intent to defraud BHHC through his Kensington and Rochester billings. 
The Kensington and Rochester billings gave the appearance that the entities were not part of Banerjee’s medical practice but were 
stand alone, diagnostic testing and surgical centers, operating independently of any physician’s office. But when BHHC’s investigator, 
Oard, visited Banerjee’s Wildomar location, he discovered that Banerjee was operating Kensington from “a small closet-type room,” 
and that Banerjee was operating Rochester from a “converted treatment room.” The evidence supported a strong suspicion that 
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Banerjee had no business reason for forming Kensington and Rochester, other than to use them to present highly inflated billings for 
his diagnostic and surgical services to BHHC. The information cannot be set aside as to the insurance fraud charges because the 
evidence demonstrates that there is some rational ground for assuming the possibility that those offenses have been committed and the 
defendant is guilty of them. 
DISPOSITION
Further proceedings may continue, and the court’s previous order staying further proceedings on the information was lifted and the 
matter may go to trial on the two insurance fraud charge. 
ZIFL OPINION
The crime of insurance fraud is a simple, direct, crime to prove. If a fraudulent bill is sent to an insurance company the crime may be 
proved. Since the evidence showed that by using the two additional entities Banerjee was able to bill $9,000 more than if he billed it 
directly can cause a jury to conclude he issued the bills with the intent to defraud the insurer. The Court of Appeal, by eliminating the 
perjury charges made the case simple, clean and direct instead of complicating the trial with difficult to prove and less than clear 
statutes. Banerjee succeeded partially, and in so doing, made it easier for the state to convict him of insurance fraud. 

Insurance Education from Barry Zalma
Barry Zalma Presents What Your Insurance Organization Needs.
Mr. Zalma’s presentations are practical, thought-provoking, entertaining and will fit easily into any 
budget. 
Enthusiastically committed to professionalism in insurance and insurance claims Mr. Zalma positively 
influences other insurance professionals through the spoken and written word. 
Mr. Zalma specializes in clarifying the importance of insurance in a modern society and in making 
insurance understandable. He also provides everything needed by the insurance claims professional to 
complete the thorough investigation of a property, casualty or liability claim efficiently, equitably, empathetically and in good faith. 
How Will You or Your Group or Organization Benefit from Working with Barry Zalma?
You can expect live or video presentations supplemented with texts that are: 

 Clear and understandable presentations that involve the both youngest and oldest member of your organization.
 Presentations that entice the most experienced person in your organization who thinks he or she has nothing to learn.
 Enhanced communications between claims and legal service providers.
 Methods to make claims operations more cost effective.
 Improved recognition of the indicators or “red flags of fraud.”
 Better understanding of how to deal with people presenting claims
 Improved interviewing techniques.
 Ability to use methods that achieve a quantifiable reduction in claims expenses and indemnity payments while leaving the 

insured totally satisfied.
Live Training Available
Barry Zalma Presents What Your Insurance Organization Needs.
He positively influences other insurance professionals through the spoken and written word. He specializes in clarifying the 
importance of insurance in a modern society and in making insurance understandable. 
The Excellence in Claims Handling Program Will Cover:

 How to Read and Understand an Insurance Policy;
 The loss notice.
 The first contact with the insured presenting a claim.
 The first contact with a third party claimant 

presenting a claim against an insured.
 Underwriting for the claims professional.

 The recorded statement.
 Locating and taking recorded statement of 

independent witnesses.
 Locating and obtaining information from 

governmental entities.
 Preparing an agreed scope of loss with an insured or 

the insured’s public insurance adjuster.
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 Preparing a captioned report to insurance company 
management.

 Preparing a statement of loss.
 Negotiating a first party claim with an insured.
 Negotiating a third party claim with a claimant or 

lawyer.
 Preparing a sworn proof of loss with an insured after 

agreement.
 Requiring an insured to submit a sworn proof of loss 

if agreement cannot be reached.
 Preparing a release of all claims after reaching 

settlement with a claimant or claimant’s counsel
 Use of an Insurance Coverage and Claims Handling 

Expert in Insurance Litigation.
 Insurance Fraud & Weapons to Fight Fraud;

 The Examination Under Oath;
 Presentation and Adjustment of Claims in a 

Catastrophe;
 Appraisal, A Specialized and Narrow Type of 

Insurance Arbitration;
 Rescission of Insurance Policies;
 Catastrophes and Fraud;
 Torts for the Claims Person — A Primer;
 Avoiding the Tort of Bad Faith;
 Arson and Arson for Profit;
 Dealing with the Public Insurance Adjuster; or
 Barry Zalma will customize a talk and speak on any 

insurance topic you require.



Good News for All of Us Who Get RoboCalls Selling Warranties
The California Department of Insurance issued Orders to Cease and Desist and to Show Cause effective immediately upon Opulent 
Marketing, Inc. doing business as Infinite Auto Protection (Infinite Auto) for allegedly selling illegal Vehicle Service Contracts 
(VSCs) to 25 California consumers across the state. 
The Orders to Cease and Desist and to Show Cause allege Infinite Auto was not licensed by the California Department of Insurance 
and improperly denied claims, illegally sold contracts that they did not first file with the Department directly to consumers, and failed 
to use a backup insurer. Infinite Auto charged consumers a total of $58,216. 
“Protecting consumers is our Number One priority,” said California Insurance Commissioner Ricardo Lara. “Californians depend on 
their cars as part of their daily lives. Any insurance company that operates illegally or attempts to hoodwink consumers will face the 
consequences.” 
Under the Orders, Infinite Auto is to immediately stop selling VSCs in any capacity and cease acting as an insurance agent or producer 
or in any other capacity in the State of California for which they do not hold a valid license, permit, or Certificate of Authority and 
show cause why a $5,000-per-day penalty against it should not issue. 
Generally, VSCs, often called ‘extended warranties’, are offered to consumers by car dealers when they buy a car. Most VSCs 
typically provide coverage for repairs due to mechanical failure. Others offer coverage for routine services, such as oil changes and 
tire rotation, or other services such as paintless dent removal, glass or key replacement, or tire and wheel repair.
VSCs may be sold legally to Californians only when specific criteria are met, which Infinite Auto failed to do, namely:
1) VSCs can only be sold through automobile and watercraft dealerships licensed by the California Department of Motor Vehicles. 
Direct sales to a consumer is illegal.
2) Every VSC must be filed with the Department before it can be sold. 
3) Companies responsible for paying the claims on VSCs must be licensed by the Department, unless the company is a vehicle 
manufacturer, distributor, or dealer.
4) These companies must carry Department-preapproved backup insurance insuring every VSC that they sell, unless they receive an 
exemption from the Department by proving their company has a net worth of at least $100 million. 
Consumers should not be buying these “extended warranties” over the phone or internet and should always check to see that the 
company is licensed in California before buying. They can check license status on the Department’s website here. 
Read the Cease and Desist Order and Order to Show Cause here.
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The crash ring’s slammer named Cornelius Garrison took the wheel and collided with a bus on I-10 in New Orleans. Gibson 
then slipped behind the wheel in Garrison’s place. She was driving when the bus suddenly changed lanes and struck her vehicle, she 
lied to police. Brown and Gibson got medical treatment, even though neither was injured. Garrison, Gibson, Brown and another 
passenger sued the bus firm and insurer, landing $677.5K in settlements. Most of the money went to Garrison, who had unneeded 
spinal fusion surgery. He was one of several slammers for a large wreck ring mostly targeting big rigs around New Orleans. The 
slammers delivered local lawyers bogus injury crash victims for false injury suits. The ring pulled off more than 100 staged crashes, 
mostly with big rigs. Brown pled federally guilty and faces up to five years when sentenced. Gibson pled guilty last June. Garrison 
was shot and killed in his apartment after being indicted. Some 30 of 40 charged ring members have pled so far in Operation 
Sideswipe.  
Elderly vets were targeted in a $134M telemed scheme. Richard Epstein and Michael Nolan created and ran a telemarketing firm in 
Tampa called REMN Management that generated thousands of medically unneeded orders for durable medical equipment — such as 
orthotic devices like back and knee braces — and genetic testing for cancer. Epstein and Nolan also ran a telemed firm called 
Comprehensive Telcare, which they used to bribe docs to sign medical orders regardless of the vets’ medical needs. Those orders were 
then illegally sold to client-conspirators, who submitted their own fraudulent claims to Medicare and other insurers. Nolan was handed 
63 months in federal prison, and Epstein 78 months. 
Viola Bowman had to do just one thing to avoid life in jail: admit she shot her husband Rusty for life insurance. The Kansas 
City, Mo.-area woman rejected a plea deal that would’ve given her credit for eight years served. Bowman claimed she returned from 
shopping to find Rusty dead. He was covered in blood, slumped in his recliner. Someone broke in and shot Rusty in his head and 
chest, she frantically told 9-1-1. Yet Bowman shot Rusty herself and clumsily tried to make the scene look like a burglary. Bowman 
told first responders that she was at Walmart buying desert during the shooting. When she arrived home, she encountered the most 
“traumatic, terrifying event of my lifetime,” Bowman claimed. Yet a laptop, car keys and wallet weren’t stolen. And officials said her 
reaction was “odd,” plus her statements were inconsistent. Bowman originally served eight years, and recently was offered the plea 
deal to set her free. Yet she kept insisting she never shot Rusty, refusing the plea deal and freedom. So, the court instead sent Bowman 
down the river for life. 

Seven Plead Guilty to Health Care Fraud 
Wrights Care Services, LLC, a North Carolina-based provider of rehabilitative behavioral health services engaged in health care 
fraud and seven of its owners and employees pleaded guilty to charges related to a Medicaid fraud conspiracy arising from the false 
billing of behavioral health services for children. 
The defendants are all former owners, employees, or business associates of Wrights Care Services pleaded guilty including its owner 
Daniel Wright marks the seventh guilty plea in the case. 
Evidence obtained in the investigation revealed that, in 2014, Wrights Care Services was approved by South Carolina Medicaid to 
provide behavioral health services. Wrights Care maintained associated franchise locations throughout South Carolina, including 
Columbia, Spartanburg, Pickens, Cheraw, Society Hill, Bennettsville, Hartsville, and Conway. From its inception, Wrights Care 
Services failed to provide qualified behavioral health services to the children in its care. Nevertheless, in order to receive payment 
from Medicaid, members of the conspiracy submitted inflated bills and false medical records. In the case of one franchise, members of 
the conspiracy began billing Medicaid for services before the franchise opened its doors. 
In 2015, South Carolina Medicaid sought to audit Wrights Care Services, and members of the conspiracy met in Columbia at a “note 
party” to forge signatures and falsify records to support the audit. During the course of the scheme, Wrights Care and its affiliated 
franchises submitted bills to Medicaid in the amount of $6,657,810.43. 
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The following defendants have pleaded guilty so far: 
 Daniel Wright, 39, of Greensboro, North Carolina 
 Glenn Pair, 35, of Baltimore, Maryland 
 John David Zachariah Wallace, 40, of Sugar Land, Texas 
 Kathleen Dubose, 54, of Greensboro, North Carolina 
 Sherel Lawson, 47, of Summerfield, North Carolina 
 Latasha Bethea, 37, of Fayetteville, North Carolina 
 Tonya Strickland Hall, 47, of Greensboro, North Carolina 

Each defendant faces a maximum penalty of five years in federal prison for conspiracy to defraud the United States. Each defendant 
also faces a fine of up to $250,000 and 3 years of supervision to follow the term of imprisonment. United States District Judge Mary 
G. Lewis accepted the guilty pleas and will sentence the defendants after receiving and reviewing presentencing reports prepared by 
the United States Probation Office. 
Guilty of Medicaid Fraud In Las Vegas 
Aaron Williams, 59, of Las Vegas, was sentenced in a Medicaid fraud case involving falsely billing for Medicaid services allegedly 
provided to Medicaid recipients. Williams pleaded guilty to one count of Attempted Medicaid Fraud. District Court Judge Crystal 
Eller sentenced Williams to 364 days in jail and ordered him to pay more than $98,000 in restitution, penalties and costs. 
The investigation began during the course of another investigation conducted by the Office of the Attorney General’s Medicaid Fraud 
Control Unit (MFCU) involving Medicaid claims showing potentially fraudulent billing practices at Aaron Williams Therapy, 
Williams’ company. The investigation revealed that Williams, a marriage and family therapist, submitted fraudulent claims to 
Medicaid for payment and used falsified records to try to support the claims. 
In many instances, Williams didn’t even have any records to support the claims he submitted to Medicaid for payment. The claims 
also showed that Williams allegedly provided more than 24 hours of services in a single day, with some days showing he provided 
more than 70 hours of services in a single day. Additionally, Medicaid recipients to whom Williams allegedly provided services 
denied receiving services from him. All of the fraudulent claims that were submitted to Medicaid for payment listed Williams as the 
therapist. The fraudulent conduct followed repeated provider education notices from Nevada Medicaid, which specifically told 
Williams that he was “responsible for submitting valid, accurate claims.” 
Two Caretakers Guilty for Elder Abuse and Operating Unlicensed Residential Care Facility 
Ayette Loo and Marina Jacome were sentenced for their roles in the neglect and death of an 83-year-old veteran at Regency Care, 
an unlicensed elder care facility in Seal Beach, California. Loo, the owner of Regency Care, was sentenced November 12, 2021 by the 
Orange County Superior Court to four years in state prison and remanded into custody. Loo had pled guilty to felony elder abuse prior 
to the November 12 hearing. Jacome, one of two individuals employed as caregivers by Loo, was sentenced in October to two years in 
state prison on one count of felony elder abuse. However, her sentence was suspended on the condition that she completes two years 
felony probation, 100 hours of community service, and no longer works as a caregiver. The third defendant, and second individual 
employed as a caregiver by Loo, Bonafacio Ruiz, did not appear in court and a bench warrant has been issued for her arrest. Ruiz, 
who currently remains at large, previously pled guilty to being an accessory after the fact and was scheduled to be sentenced on 
October 15, 2021. 
Regency Care was a licensed Residential Care Facility for the Elderly until May 2017, when the California Department of Social 
Services’ Community Care Licensing Division revoked Loo’s license for misconduct. Nonetheless, Loo continued to represent 
Regency Care as a licensed facility and accepted new residents, including an elderly veteran who was discharged from the Veterans 
Administration Hospital in Long Beach to Regency Care. The investigation revealed that after moving to Loo’s facility, the victim 
developed a severe pressure ulcer, suffered bruises and lacerations all over his body, and developed acute bronchopneumonia. After 
the defendants failed to seek medical care for the victim, he ultimately passed away from his condition in January 2018. All three of 
the defendants were criminally charged for willfully neglecting the victim’s deteriorating health. 
San Joaquin County Doctor Convicted for Illegally Prescribing Opioids to Patients 
Edmund Kemprud, M.D. was found guilty by a jury of 14 counts of illegally prescribing opioids and other controlled substances to 
patients. The November 19, 2021 verdict comes after a joint investigation by the California Department of Justice’s Division of Medi-
Cal Fraud and Elder Abuse (DMFEA), the Office of Inspector General for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (OIG), 
and the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) uncovered that Kemprud was prescribing opioids to patients in Tracy and 
Dublin without a legitimate medical purpose. He is scheduled to be sentenced on February 14, 2022. 
The multiagency investigation found that between September 6, 2018, and March 13, 2019, Kemprud prescribed opioids without first 
determining the patients’ medical and prescription histories, conducting a proper medical examination, confirming the legitimacy of 
the patients’ complaints, or assessing the risk of the patient’s potential abuse of the drug. He prescribed highly addictive, commonly 
abused opioids such as Hydrocodone, Alprazolam, and Oxycodone — substances that affect the central nervous system and may only 
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be prescribed when medically required. The investigation also uncovered that Kemprud knowingly operated outside of professional 
practice with the intention that his patients would continue to return for more prescriptions. 
Roanoke Doctor Sentenced to Three Years’ Imprisonment for Over-Prescribing Opioids 
Verna Mae Lewis, 70, a Roanoke, Virginia doctor was sentenced November 16, 2021 to 36 months in prison, a fine of $10,000, and a 
forfeiture money judgment of $500,000 for distributing and dispensing Schedule II controlled substances to patients outside the usual 
course of professional practice and not for a legitimate medical purpose. The controlled substances charged included high dosages of 
morphine, oxycodone, and hydromorphone. 
According to evidence presented in court, Lewis profited over $523,000 from her illegal prescribing. The evidence also demonstrated 
that she prescribed patients the same regimen of opioids month after month without tapering and, in some cases, escalated dosages 
without any medical justification. She issued these prescriptions following little to no medical examination, without supporting 
records or diagnostic studies, and in contravention of guidelines from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the U.S. Food 
and Drug Administration, and the Virginia Board of Medicine. 
Lewis continued to prescribe opioids to patients in spite of their documented histories of substance abuse, accidental overdoses, and 
previous terminations from other medical practices for testing positive for cocaine and other illicit drugs. 
As part of her guilty plea, Lewis agreed to surrender her medical licenses and registrations, to never apply for their reinstatement, and 
to never practice medicine in the future. 
Former Medical Lab Sales Representative Admits Role in Genetic Testing Kickback and Bribery Scheme 
Terri Haines, 57, of Kennett Square, Pennsylvania, pleaded guilty by videoconference before U.S. District Judge Anne E. Thompson 
to an information charging her with conspiring to violate the anti-kickback statute. Haines, a former medical laboratory sales 
representative admitted on November 17, 2021 for participating in a scheme to offer and pay bribes and kickbacks in exchange for 
ordering genetic tests. 
Haines is the fifth defendant to plead guilty in bribery and kickback schemes involving doctors and medical employees in the 
Scranton, Pennsylvania, area. According to documents filed in this case and statements made in court: 
Haines was not a health care provider, but made a living soliciting and collecting DNA samples from Medicare patients at health fairs. 
In exchange for commissions, Haines sent the DNA samples to a lab in New Jersey for “CGx” cancer screen testing. Haines was not 
authorized to order those CGx tests without a doctor’s sign-off. As a result, Haines paid a kickback and bribe to Dr. Lee Besen, of 
Scranton, Pennsylvania, to use his name and medical credentials to order CGx tests for the Medicare patients she met at fairs, even 
though Besen never actually attended any of the health fairs and never met the patients for whom the genetic tests were ordered. 
Medicare paid over $340,000 for CGx genetic tests that resulted from this scheme. 
Besen has previously pleaded guilty for his role in this scheme and a related scheme in which he accepted monthly cash kickbacks and 
bribes in exchange for collecting DNA samples from Medicare patients and sending them for genetic tests to clinical laboratories in 
New Jersey and Pennsylvania. 
The count of conspiracy to violate the federal anti-kickback statute is punishable by a maximum of five years in prison and a fine of 
$250,000, or twice the gross gain or loss derived from the offense, whichever is greatest. Sentencing is scheduled for March 22, 2022. 
Court Assesses More Than $170m In Penalties Against Two Area Ophthalmologists  
Dr. Mustapha Kibirige, 58, and Dr. Emelike Agomo, 57, and the eye clinic they operated in Houston – Outreach Diagnostic Clinic 
LLP deliberately overcharging the government for medical services. Kibirige also practices in Humble, Texas. The two 
ophthalmologists and their eye clinic must pay millions of dollars for fraudulently billing Medicare in relation to the evaluation and 
treatment of glaucoma. 
The action is a result of a whistleblower lawsuit a former employee of Outreach had filed under the False Claims Act (FCA). It alleged 
the two ophthalmologists were fraudulently billing the Medicare Program for single eye pressure measurement tests used to assess and 
treat glaucoma. Kibirige and Agomo allegedly billed the federal health care program using an improper reimbursement code that 
provided a higher reimbursement than what was allowed. 
Under the FCA, the government is entitled to treble damages and a penalty on each false claim. Judge Hughes determined those 
damages amounted to $2,422,350. The court further found the practice had submitted 14,450 false claims to the Medicare Program 
between 2006 and 2012. Judge Hughes assessed a penalty of $11,803 for each of those false claims, resulting in a total of 
$170,553,350 in penalties. 
Under the FCA, a private party can file an action on behalf of the United States and receive a share of the recovery. 
Tallahassee Doctor Sentenced to Seven Years in Federal Prison for Performing Unnecessary Surgical 
Procedures on Patients and Defrauding Health Insurance Providers Of $29 Million
Moses de-Graft Johnson, 47, a dual citizen of the United States and Ghana, was sentenced to seven years in federal prison, for 
committing health care fraud, conspiracy to commit health care fraud, and aggravated identity theft.  



The Essential Resource for The Insurance Fraud Professional

Zalma’s Insurance Fraud Letter – Page 10

Court documents reflect, for almost four years, beginning in early 2016 until his arrest in February 2020, deGraft-Johnson performed 
hundreds of unnecessary, invasive surgical procedures of his patients in the Tallahassee area. deGraft-Johnson solicited his victims by 
establishing relationships with churches, nursing homes, a hospital, and an outreach organization. In addition to subjecting his patients 
to unnecessary surgical procedures, deGraft-Johnson victimized others by falsifying their medical records – reflecting surgical 
procedures that he did not perform. This conduct resulted in the creation of erroneous and misleading records that could cause future 
doctors to determine a mistaken course of medical treatment for many of his patients. 
In addition to the term of imprisonment, the sentence included the forfeiture of assets in the United States and overseas, including 
luxury vehicles; jewelry; and homes in Manhattan, Southampton, New York, Miami, and Houston; as well as an order of $28,423,846 
in restitution. 
ZIFL can only hope that de-Graft Johnson stays in jail until the full order of restitution is paid. 
Seattle Doctor Guilty of Fraudulently Obtaining Millions of Dollars from Covid-19 Relief Programs 
Eric R. Shibley, 41, of Seattle, was convicted by a federal jury because he submitted several fraudulent PPP and EIDL loan 
applications to federally insured financial institutions, other Small Business Administration (SBA)-approved lenders, and the SBA, in 
the names of businesses with no actual operations or by otherwise misrepresenting the business’s eligibility. In the applications, 
Shibley falsified the number of employees and payroll expenses and concealed his own criminal history. To support the fraudulent 
applications, Shibley submitted fake tax documents and the names of purported employees who did not, in fact, work for the 
businesses for which Shibley claimed they worked. Shibley received over $2.8 million in COVID-19 relief funds as a result of the 
fraud. 
Shibley was convicted of multiple counts of wire fraud, multiple counts of bank fraud, and money laundering. He is scheduled to be 
sentenced on Feb. 22, 2022, and faces 20 years for each count of wire fraud, 30 years for each count of bank fraud, and 10 years for 
money laundering. A federal district court judge will determine any sentence after considering the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines and 
other statutory factors. 
The Fraud Section leads the Criminal Division’s prosecution of fraud schemes that exploit the PPP. Since the inception of the CARES 
Act, the Fraud Section has prosecuted over 150 defendants in more than 95 criminal cases and has seized over $75 million in cash 
proceeds derived from fraudulently obtained PPP funds, as well as numerous real estate properties and luxury items purchased with 
such proceeds. More information can be found at https://www.justice.gov/criminal-fraud/ppp-fraud. 
Louisville Pharmacist Sentenced to Federal Prison for Health Care Fraud  
Gary Green, a Louisville pharmacist was sentenced to 9 months in prison, payment of a $4,000 fine, an order of restitution in the 
amount of $188,157.55, and forfeiture of $34,395 for his role in a health care fraud scheme involving fraudulent prescriptions for pain 
creams and regulatory violations relating to the storage of controlled substances.  
According to court documents in the case, between November 2015 and December 2018, Green, 46, executed a scheme to obtain 
money from health care benefit programs by fraudulently billing those programs for pain cream prescriptions written for himself, his 
family, and his employees using the National Provider Identifier numbers of two physicians without their authority and authorization. 
Ultimately, Green deposited the proceeds from the fraudulently billed prescriptions into his business accounts and then transferred the 
proceeds to his personal bank accounts. Green collected $188,157.55 in proceeds from the fraudulent prescriptions.      
In addition, from April 2014 and through January 2019, Green committed regulatory violations in that he intentionally omitted 
material information from a required report and filing when he failed to inform the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) when he 
transferred Schedule II-IV and III-IV controlled substances from closed pharmacies and stored the controlled substances in an 
unapproved commercial storage unit. 
Licensed Attorney Pleads Guilty to Defrauding Medicaid in Scheme Involving Personal Care Services 
Admits Submitting False Timesheets Over Two-Year  
Susan Engonwei Tingwei, 44, of Silver Spring, Md., a licensed attorney, pleaded guilty today to defrauding the D.C. Medicaid 
program out of more than $100,000 in a scheme involving false claims about personal care services. 
Tingwei pleaded guilty to health care fraud, which carries a statutory maximum of 10 years in prison and financial penalties. Under 
federal sentencing guidelines, Tingwei faces a likely recommended sentence of between 10 and 16 months in prison and potential 
financial penalties. She has agreed to pay $131,656.12 in restitution.  
In court documents, Tingwei admitted that at various times between 2016 and 2018, she was employed by two different home health 
agencies in the District of Columbia. The home health agencies employed her to assist D.C. Medicaid beneficiaries in performing 
activities of daily living, such as getting in and out of bed, bathing, dressing, and eating. 
Tingwei was supposed to document the care that she provided to Medicaid beneficiaries on timesheets and then submit the timesheets 
to the home health agencies, which would in turn bill Medicaid for the services that she rendered. As part of her guilty plea, Tingwei 
admitted that she submitted false timesheets claiming to provide services that she did not actually render. 
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Tingwei earned her Master of Laws degree from the University of Maryland in May 2017. She was admitted to the New York state 
bar in February 2018.  On 118 occasions between August 2016 and May 2017, Tingwei submitted timesheets claiming that she 
worked as a personal care aide in Washington, D.C., during the same hours when she either was scheduled to attend law school classes 
in Baltimore, or when she should have been traveling to or from Baltimore related to her law school program. For example, Tingwei 
submitted timesheets claiming that she provided services to two beneficiaries on April 13, 2017, one from 7 a.m. to 3 p.m., and the 
other from 3:30 p.m. to 8:30 p.m. Records show Tingwei’s key card swiping in at the University of Maryland’s law school campus at 
5:30 p.m. and swiping out at 9:29 p.m. Cell phone records also showed her cell phone being in Baltimore between 8:03 a.m. and 9:31 
p.m. that day. 
Tingwei admitted that her fraud scheme began no later than August 2016 and continued through September 2018. She acknowledged 
successfully defrauding the D.C. Medicaid program out of $131,656. 
Tingwei is the eleventh former personal care aide since August 2018 to plead guilty to defrauding Medicaid in the United States 
District Court for the District of Columbia. Six of those aides were sentenced to 13 months in prison; a seventh was sentenced to serve 
15 months. 
ZIFL believes this conviction is evidence of a crime of moral turpitude and her license to practice law should be immediately revoked. 
Florida Counseling Center Owner and Provider Sentenced to Federal Prison for Medicaid Fraud, 
Conspiracy, False Statements, And Identity Theft 
Stephanie Lynn Fleming, 43, and Helen Elizabeth Storey, 39, both of Waldorf, Maryland, and both formerly of Tallahassee, Florida 
were sentenced to Federal Prison. Fleming was sentenced to a total of three years and one day in prison followed by three years of 
supervised release. Storey was sentenced to a total of two years and one day in prison followed by three years of supervised release. 
Both defendants were ordered to pay $219,000 in restitution to the Florida Agency for Healthcare Administration (AHCA). 
Fleming’s and Storey’s sentences were the result of a 3-day federal bench trial resulting in guilty verdicts for most counts on April 6, 
2021. Both defendants were found guilty of health care fraud conspiracy, health care fraud, and aggravated identity theft. Fleming was 
also found guilty of making false statements in connection with health care matters. 
Storey owned and operated North Florida Mental Health (NFMH), a Tallahassee-based counseling center, and employed Fleming as 
a licensed mental health counselor. Evidence presented in court proved that between April 15, 2016 and December 31, 2017, Storey 
and Fleming improperly obtained, or attempted to obtain, more than $250,000 from Florida Medicaid by submitting fraudulent claims 
through NFMH. 
Fleming, who provided psychotherapy, psychiatric diagnostic evaluations, and therapeutic behavioral services to patients of NFMH, 
agreed to a five-year debarment from participating in any state Medicaid program as a result of a 2016 felony conviction involving 
Medicaid fraud in the state of New Jersey. Evidence presented in court proved that Fleming falsely claimed on an application to 
become a Florida Medicaid provider that she had not been convicted of, or pled guilty or no contest to, a felony. Additional evidence 
demonstrated that Storey knew of Fleming’s conviction and debarment, and that Fleming was therefore ineligible to participate as a 
Florida Medicaid provider.  
At trial, evidence showed that Fleming caused to be submitted – and that Storey submitted – multiple fraudulent Medicare claims by 
means of aggravated identity theft. In doing so, some of the false Medicare claims reflected that another eligible and licensed NFMH 
therapist performed services that, in reality, were provided by Fleming during the period of time that she was under debarment from 
participation in any state Medicaid program. The court heard evidence of additional instances in which the names and personal 
identification information of NFMH patients, many of whom were children, were used to submit fictitious Medicare claims for 
services that were not performed at all. 
Edgerton Doctor Sentenced To 54 Months For $13 Million Scheme to Defraud Medicare 
Dr. Ravi Murali, 39, formerly of Edgerton, Wisconsin, was sentenced November 22, 2021 by Chief U.S. District Judge James D. 
Peterson to 54 months in federal prison for Dr. Murali’s role in a scheme to defraud Medicare. Dr. Murali pleaded guilty to this charge 
on March 31, 2021. 
Dr. Murali wrote thousands of fraudulent orders for Durable Medical Equipment (DME). Other participants in the scheme used Dr. 
Murali’s fraudulent orders to bill Medicare $26,000,000 of which Medicare paid $13,000,000.  
At sentencing, Chief Judge Peterson emphasized that a severe sentence was necessary to deter other providers who were considering 
whether to defraud Medicare and other federal programs. Further, Chief Judge Peterson noted that Dr. Murali’s history of 
dishonesty—he was previously disciplined by the Wisconsin Medical Examining Board for creating a fraudulent diploma to falsely 
claim that he completed residency—cut in favor of a longer sentence. 
Home Health Agency to Pay $4.2 Million To Settle False Claims Act Allegations 
PruittHealth, Inc. and affiliated entities (“Pruitt”) have agreed to pay $4.2 million to resolve allegations that they submitted claims 
for home health services that were not covered by the Medicare and Medicaid programs, and that they failed to refund overpayments 
that they had received from Medicare and Medicaid in a timely manner. 
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Home health services consist of skilled care provided to homebound beneficiaries for the treatment of acute illnesses and injuries. As a 
result of widespread fraud in the submission of home health claims, Medicare and Medicaid began requiring referring physicians to 
certify in writing, after a face-to-face visit with the beneficiary, that the beneficiary was homebound and needed the skilled care. 
Medicare and Medicaid also require the physician to devise and sign a plan of care for the beneficiary. 
The Government alleged that from January 1, 2011 through June 30, 2012, Pruitt knowingly submitted claims to Medicare and 
Medicaid for home health services that were not eligible for reimbursement because, among other things, they did not have the 
required face-to-face certifications or plans of care, and they did not document the beneficiary’s homebound status or need for the 
home health services.  The Government further alleges that Pruitt learned that it had received payments for home health services to 
which it was not entitled, but failed to disclose its receipt of the overpayments, or refund the overpayments to Medicare and Medicaid 
in a timely manner. 
In reaching its settlement with Pruitt, the Government took into account documents produced by Pruitt indicating that Pruitt 
subsequently took steps to improve its compliance with the home health requirements of the Medicare and Medicaid programs, 
including the retention of an outside consultant in January 2013 to conduct an audit of its home health claims, the implementation of a 
pre-bill review of home health claims between February 2013 and August of 2013, and the implementation of quarterly audits of its 
home health claims (with more frequent audits as needed) beginning in September 2013 through the present.  Pruitt voluntarily 
produced the results of its 2013 audit to the Government during the investigation. Although the Government has taken these steps into 
consideration, this is not an indication or concession as to the sufficiency of these compliance measures. 
This settlement resolves a lawsuit originally filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia by Tina Peery (the 
Relator) under the qui tam or whistleblower provisions of the False Claims Act:  United States ex rel. Tina Peery v. UHS-Pruitt 
Holdings, Inc., et al., No. 1:14-cv-01016-AT.  Under the False Claims Act, private citizens may bring suit for false claims on behalf of 
the United States and share in any recovery obtained by the government. The Relator will receive over $700,000.00 from the 
settlement. 
The claims resolved by the settlement are allegations only, and there has been no determination of liability. 
Crossroads Hospice Agrees to Pay $5.5 Million To Settle False Claims Act Liability 
Carrefour Associates LLC; Crossroads Hospice of Cincinnati LLC; Crossroads Hospice of Cleveland LLC; Crossroads 
Hospice of Dayton LLC; Crossroads Hospice of Northeast Ohio LLC; and Crossroads Hospice of Tennessee LLC (Crossroads 
Hospice), operating in Ohio and Tennessee, have agreed to pay $5.5 million to resolve allegations that they violated the False Claims 
Act by submitting claims to Medicare for non-covered hospice services. 
Hospice care is special, end-of-life care intended to comfort terminally ill patients. Patients admitted to hospice care generally stop 
receiving coverage for traditional medical care designed to cure their terminal condition and instead receive medical care focused on 
providing them with relief from the symptoms, pain and stress of a terminal illness. Medicare patients are considered to be terminally 
ill and hospice-eligible when they have a life expectancy of six months or less if their illness runs its normal course. 
This settlement resolves allegations that Crossroads Hospice knowingly submitted false claims to Medicare for hospice services for 
patients who were not terminally ill. According to the settlement agreement, the United States alleged that from Jan. 1, 2012 to Dec. 
31, 2014, Crossroads Hospice billed Medicare for hospice care for certain patients with a diagnosis of dementia or Alzheimer’s 
disease at its Ohio and Tennessee locations who were not terminally ill for at least a portion of the more than three years that the 
patients received care at these locations. 
The civil settlement includes the resolution of claims brought under the qui tam or whistleblower provisions of the False Claims Act 
by Leanne Malone, Jackie Burns and Angela Heck, former employees of Crossroads Hospice, as well as Dr. David Weber, a home 
health physician in Tennessee. Under those provisions, a private party can file an action on behalf of the United States and receive a 
portion of any recovery. The qui tam cases are: United States ex rel. Leanne Malone et al. v. Carrefour Associates LLC et al., No. 
1:15-cv-460 (S.D. Ohio) and United States ex rel. David Weber v. Crossroads Hospice of Tennessee, LLC, No. 2:16-cv-02684 (W.D. 
Tenn.). Under this settlement, the whistleblowers in the Malone action will receive approximately $1,045,000. 
The resolution obtained in this matter was the result of a coordinated effort between the Justice Department’s Civil Division, 
Commercial Litigation Branch, Fraud Section; the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of Ohio; and the U.S. Attorney’s 
Office for the Western District of Tennessee. HHS-OIG assisted in the investigation. 
Kentucky Physician Sentenced for Unlawful Kickback Conspiracy 
John Baird, 55, a physician, was sentenced to five years of probation, including two years of home detention. Baird was also ordered 
to pay restitution totaling $567,609.36 to Medicare. 
During the defendant’s plea hearing on July 16, 2018, Baird admitted that while practicing as a licensed physician specializing in 
physical medicine, rehabilitation, and pain treatment, he entered into an illegal kickbacks-for-referrals conspiracy with Williams 
Hughes, the owner and operator of Universal Oral Fluid Labs (“UOFL”), a clinical drug-testing laboratory in Greensburg, 
Pennsylvania.  Pursuant to their arrangement, Baird received cash payments from UOFL in exchange for referring patients—including 
patients covered under Medicare—to the lab for drug testing services.  Hughes, through UOFL, then submitted to, and received 
reimbursements from, Medicare for drug testing services for patients referred to the lab by Baird.  As enrolled Medicare providers, 
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Baird and UOFL were required to certify that they would comply with all applicable state and federal laws and regulations, including 
the federal anti-kickback prohibition.  Baird further admitted that between May 2012 and July 2013, he received $567,609.36 in 
kickbacks from UOFL for his drug testing referrals. 
Hughes separately pleaded guilty for conspiring to offer and pay kickbacks in connection with Medicaid referrals made by another 
Kentucky physician.  On July 13, 2021, United States District Judge David S. Cercone sentenced Hughes to sixty days’ incarceration, 
followed by twelve months of home detention.  Hughes was also ordered to pay a $5,000 fine, forfeit more than $750,000 in 
previously seized assets, and make restitution totaling $1,670,469.77 to the Kentucky Medicaid Program. 
South Carolina Chiropractor Pleads Guilty and Agrees To $9 Million  
Daniel McCollum, a South Carolina Chiropractor pleaded guilty under the False Claims Act. McCollum guilty plea included an 
agreement in which McCollum admitted to engaging in a conspiracy to pay illegal kickbacks and to defraud healthcare programs by 
billing for unnecessary medical services. The maximum criminal penalty McCollum could face is five years in prison and a fine of 
$250,000.  
McCollum owned and operated pain management clinics, laboratories and a pharmacy in South Carolina. He also operated pain 
management clinics in North Carolina and Tennessee. McCollum’s clinics did business collectively as Pain Management Associates.  
On May 31, 2019, the United States filed a civil complaint alleging that McCollum caused the submission of false claims to federal 
health care programs arising from kickbacks he paid for urine drug testing (UDT) referrals in violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute; 
referrals prohibited under the Stark Law from physicians with whom McCollum had financial relationships; and claims for UDT and 
other services that were not medically necessary and that lacked a legitimate medical purpose. 
On Oct. 29, McCollum agreed to resolve the government’s False Claims Act allegations, including admitting that he violated the Anti-
Kickback Statute by providing kickbacks in the form of a direct bill program whereby his laboratory, Labsource, gave referring 
providers an opportunity to earn revenue generated from their commercially-insured UDT referrals as an inducement for those 
providers to refer all of their federally-insured UDT patients to Labsource. McCollum also caused medically unnecessary prescriptions 
for pain creams often without the knowledge or approval of the patients’ healthcare providers and regardless of whether the 
prescription had a legitimate medical purpose. McCollum admitted that the aforementioned conduct constituted misrepresentations, 
fraudulent omissions and/or deceptive conduct, and that he engaged in this conduct with an intent to deceive the United States and 
cause the United States to pay false or fraudulent federal healthcare program claims. 
The civil judgment resolves claims brought under the qui tam or whistleblower provisions of the False Claims Act by Donna Rauch, 
Muriel Calhoun, Brandy Knight and Karen Mathewson, all former employees of pain management clinics owned or operated by 
McCollum. Under those provisions, a private party can file an action on behalf of the United States and receive a portion of any 
recovery.  
Fraud Claims Against Non-Profit and Its Founder Pay for Inflating Medicaid Reimbursements  
Founder Will Pay $220,000 and Admits That for a Decade He and Non-Profit Reported as “Allowable” Costs Amounts 
Expended to Pursue For-Profit Business Ventures  
Maranatha Human Services, Inc. (“MARANATHA”) and Henry Alfonso Coley (“COLEY”) were sued for falsely claiming that 
millions of dollars expended to benefit for-profit ventures owned and controlled by COLEY and MARANATHA, as well as payments 
to cover COLEY’s personal costs and excessive payments to COLEY’s family members, for MARANATHA’s provision of 
Medicaid-funded services to individuals with developmental disabilities. MARANATHA is a non-profit organization based in 
Poughkeepsie, New York; COLEY founded MARANATHA in 1988 and served as its chief executive officer until earlier this year.  
Simultaneous with the filing of the lawsuit, the United States has resolved its claims against COLEY through a settlement approved by 
U.S. District Judge Kenneth M. Karas. Pursuant to the settlement, COLEY will pay $88,000 to the United States and has admitted and 
accepted responsibility for conduct alleged by the Government in its complaint as further described below. COLEY has also agreed to 
pay $132,000 to the State of New York to resolve the State’s claims, for a total recovery of $220,000. The settlement amount is based 
on the Office’s assessment of COLEY’s ability to pay based on the financial information he provided. COLEY also agreed never to 
work for or accept payments from any entity that receives funds from a federal healthcare program. In addition, COLEY entered into a 
Voluntary Exclusion Agreement with HHS-OIG, which prohibits him from participating in Medicaid and other federal healthcare 
programs for 15 years.  
According to the Government’s complaint, from 2010 through 2019: 

1. MARANATHA was required to submit cost reports, called Consolidated Financial Reports (“CFRs”), to the State of New 
York each year, specifying the reasonable and necessary costs MARANATHA incurred in providing services for its 
Medicaid-funded programs. These costs were to be reported as “allowable” costs.  MARANATHA was required separately to 
report its other, “non-allowable” costs; “non-allowable” costs include costs unrelated to its Medicaid-funded programs, as 
well as any unreasonable or unnecessary costs. 

2. With its board’s approval, MARANATHA funded for-profit companies operated by COLEY and owned by COLEY or 
MARANATHA, as well as various unincorporated pet projects started by COLEY. One of the chief purposes of these 
ventures was to serve as vehicles to funnel money to COLEY’s daughter, as well as others associated with COLEY, whom 
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MARANATHA paid for work they purportedly did to support these ventures and projects. Over the course of a decade, not 
one of these ventures ever launched a product or service or earned a single dollar in revenue. COLEY and MARANATHA 
hired COLEY’s family members as employees and consultants, some in connection with these for-profit ventures, and others 
in connection with MARANATHA’s Medicaid-funded services. COLEY and MARANATHA paid excessive salaries and 
consulting fees to COLEY’s family members, often in return for little to no work. MARANATHA also paid for tens of 
thousands of dollars of COLEY’s personal expenses, including more than $34,000 for personal training sessions at a gym. 

3. COLEY and MARANATHA knowingly submitted CFRs annually to the State of New York fraudulently reporting these 
expenses – totaling millions of dollars – as “allowable” costs. On each CFR, COLEY falsely certified to the completeness 
and accuracy of the report. COLEY and MARANATHA knew that the State of New York relied on providers’ CFRs when 
setting provider-specific reimbursement rates for certain Medicaid-funded programs, including MARANATHA’s largest 
Medicaid-funded program. As a result of COLEY’s and MARANATHA’s falsely inflated cost reports, the State of New 
York awarded MARANATHA a higher reimbursement rate and MARANATHA received millions of dollars in Medicaid 
funds to which it was not entitled. 

COLEY has settled the claims against him in the Government’s complaint. As part of the settlement, COLEY admits, acknowledges, 
and accepts responsibility for the following conduct: 

 COLEY made a presentation to MARANATHA’s board of directors acknowledging that “[i]t was always the plan for 
Maranatha to use government funds as a launching pad to create private enterprise that would enable it to not be dependent 
on government while at the same time fulfilling its function” consistent with its mission.

 COLEY was familiar with the requirement that MARANATHA distinguish “allowable costs” from “non-allowable costs” in 
its CFRs.

 COLEY knew that the CFRs are used by the New York State Department of Health to determine MARANTHA’s 
reimbursement rates for the provision of Medicaid services.

 In each CFR that MARANATHA submitted since 2010, COLEY certified that the (i) the “information furnished in this 
report . . . is in accordance with the instructions and is true and correct to the best of my knowledge”; and (ii) the statement 
attached to the CFR “fully and accurately represents all reportable income and expenditures made for services performed in 
accordance with the provision of the Mental Hygiene Law and approved budgets.”

 COLEY signed the certifications set out above in CFRs that reported as “allowable costs” amounts expended not for 
MARANTHA’s provision of Medicaid services but instead to pursue certain for-profit business ventures.

 In particular, MARANATHA submitted CFRs reporting as “allowable costs” costs expended to benefit certain entities owned 
and/or operated by COLEY and/or MARANATHA that did not provide Medicaid-funded services (the “Non-Medicaid 
Ventures”).

 MARANATHA paid certain employees and contractors, including COLEY’s family members, to perform work related to the 
Non-Medicaid Ventures.  For example, since 2010, MARANATHA paid COLEY’s daughter more than $300,000. Though 
much of her time was spent on work related to the Non-Medicaid Ventures, COLEY and MARANATHA reported her full 
compensation as an “allowable cost” in the CFRs.

 Since 2010, COLEY received more than $2 million from MARANATHA in salary and benefits, and MARANTHA claimed 
the full amount of his compensation as “allowable costs” on its CFRs. However, COLEY devoted much of his to time to 
working on the Non-Medicaid Ventures.

In connection with the filing of the lawsuit and settlement, the United States joined a private whistleblower lawsuit that had previously 
been filed under seal pursuant to the False Claims Act. 

Over 320 Videos describing important insurance issues described by Barry Zalma and available to anyone who views or subscribes to 
the YouTube account.  Issues include insurance fraud, definition of insurance, insurance as a contract of personal indemnity, millions 
for defense and not a dime for tribute and the tort of bad faith. Please subscribe. There are 62 Videos are at 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCFg7qxC0tVgKcMUqoUfnwPw/videos but I have had some difficulty posting new videos to my 
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YouTube channel. I have posted about 320 videos on insurance, insurance claims, insurance law, and insurance fraud to this YouTube 
Channel my Rumble channel https://rumble.com/c/c-262921 and my blog, https://zalma.com/blog. 

Individuals In LA-Based Organized Fraud Ring Sentenced to Prison for Staging Auto Collisions to 
Collect Insurance Money 
Drivers caused 15 crashes involving 21 victims – some resulting in severe injuries
Victor Valle-Diaz, 55, Eduardo Retana, 25, and Ausencio Gomez, 46, were sentenced to serve in state prison after pleading no 
contest to charges of insurance fraud and assault for their involvement in the organized auto fraud ring. The three defendants were 
involved in 15 staged collisions involving 21 victims, some of who were severely injured, in a scheme to fraudulently collect nearly 
$330,000 from insurance companies.  
Valle-Diaz was sentenced to seven years in state prison, Retana was sentenced to six years in state prison, and Gomez was sentenced 
to four years in state prison. All three admitted to an enhancement of more than $100,000 in losses and were ordered to pay $343,883 
in restitution to the victims.  
The Los Angeles Auto Insurance Fraud Task Force, comprising of Department of Insurance detectives and California Highway Patrol 
investigators, began an investigation after a CHP officer responded to what they suspected was a staged collision. The investigation 
revealed Retana and Gomez intentionally staged a collision on a Los Angeles freeway for the purpose of insurance fraud. Both 
admitted to participating in the scheme in exchange for money and stated a third party orchestrated it, providing them with a vehicle 
and a fraudulent identification card. The third party was later determined to be Valle-Diaz. 
The staged collision was completed by performing a “Sudden Stop” on the freeway while traffic was flowing, forcing the victim who 
was driving a Mercedes SUV, to rear-end the vehicle driven by Retana and Gomez. A driver of a Toyota Tacoma became an 
unintended victim when it collided with the rear-end of the Mercedes. Both the driver and passenger of the Toyota were transported by 
ambulance from the scene of the collision. The driver of the Toyota suffered the loss of a tooth and a broken foot, which required 
surgery. 
The “Sudden Stop” scheme of staged collisions is orchestrated in a manner in which an innocent victim is intentionally targeted and 
forced to be the “at fault” driver in a rear-end collision, so that the suspects can profit from a fraudulent insurance claim against the 
victim driver’s insurance company. 
Further investigation found Retana and Gomez colluded with Valle-Diaz to coordinate 14 additional staged collisions involving over 
20 victims between January 2020 and September 2020. Valle-Diaz acted as the “capper” for the staged collisions, meaning he ensured 
policies were obtained, often using false identities, developed “scripts” for claimants, coordinated staged collisions and followed 
through with filing the insurance claim.  
Australian Motorist Who Made 50 Claims in Five Years Loses Claim Dispute 
A man who lodged a claim for theft of his Alfa Romeo has lost a dispute after his insurer uncovered scores of undisclosed previous 
claims, including one declined four years earlier based on fraud. 
IAG said the man, who held a comprehensive motor policy, fraudulently misrepresented his claims history when the policy was 
arranged to deceive it into offering insurance cover it would not otherwise have offered. 
The man told the Australian Financial Complaints Authority (AFCA) he answered all questions truthfully and the insurer should pay 
the claim. 
AFCA ruled IAG was entitled to avoid the contract of insurance and decline the claim, saying he was aware of his extensive claims 
record. 
“I consider the complainant’s failure to inform the insurer of his claims history amounts to fraudulent misrepresentation,” AFCA’s 
ombudsman said. “There is no information to show the complainant was, somehow, unaware of his claims history when the current 
policy was arranged.” 
An enquiry showed he made 45 claims in the three years before the Alfa Romeo policy was incepted, nine with an outcome listed as 
declined or repudiated and others noted to have been withdrawn. A large underwriter confirmed that 38 listed claims were made by the 
complainant, and another 12 claims had been made which had not been listed. 
The enquiry listed the make, model, registration number and date of loss for motor claims. The man did not dispute that he previously 
owned any of the vehicles listed. 
IAG provided a transcript of a call in which the man arranged insurance for a Nissan Pulsar and made a claim which it declined. After 
that policy was incepted, he asked to be transferred to the insurer’s claims department to lodge a claim for a BMW Z3 which was 
damaged in a collision with an unknown third party. 
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“I consider the insurance claims enquiry listing 50 claims, the current (Alfa Romeo) claim, the claim for the Nissan Pulsar and the 
notification of a claim for a BMW Z3, is overwhelming evidence the claims were all made by the complainant,” the ombudsman said, 
noting the man’s “very extensive claims history” included a claim declined based on fraud in 2017. 
“The complainant has made at least 52 claims in the five years before the policy was incepted.” 
The man contacted IAG in January to arrange a new policy for his 2013 Alfa Romeo 155. A recording and transcript of that 
conversation showed he was asked questions relevant to the risk to be insured, including about his claims history. 
He told IAG’s representative neither he or any other driver of the vehicle had, in the last five years, an insurance claim refused, or a 
policy cancelled, and confirmed he had made no claims in the last five years. IAG sent him a schedule of insurance which included a 
copy of the responses to the questions asked and the policy commenced on January 6. Ten weeks later, he lodged a claim for the theft 
of the vehicle. 
IAG’s underwriting guidelines stated it would not accept cover where, in the last five years, a claim was declined for fraud or non-
cooperation. 
AFCA said asking questions relating to the risk to be insured was “essentially the business of insurance” and the law allowed an 
insurer to avoid a contract of insurance where it would not have been offered if not for a statement which was made fraudulently. 
“This protects the insurer from having to pay claims for risks it deems unacceptable. It is fair the insurer is entitled to avoid a contract 
of insurance which is based on a false representation of a risk.” 

Properly Convicted of Health Care Fraud
“Chutzpah” is Yiddish for “unmitigated gall.” It has been defined as a request for mercy from a defendant convicted of murdering his 
parents because he is an orphan. 
In United States of America v. Patrick Tonge, Serge Francois, No. 18-11165, United States Court of Appeals, Eleventh Circuit 
(November 22, 2021) the defendants asserted a series of spurious claims on appeal of their conviction for running a fraudulent 
conspiracy and scheme to defraud government sponsored health insurance programs. 
Patrick Tonge and Serge Francois were convicted of federal crimes arising out of their work at Atlantic Pharmacy & 
Compounding, a Florida pharmacy that collected over thirty-one million dollars in fraudulent claims from federal insurance 
programs. 
BACKGROUND
The defendants’ convictions, and thus these appeals, begin and end with Atlantic Pharmacy, a pharmaceutical business that 
manufactured and sold custom medications. Serge Francois opened Atlantic in 2009, owned the business, and was the pharmacist-in-
charge. Atlantic’s business operations largely involved non-sterile compounding, specifically the creation of compound prescription 
creams (“CPCs”) from scratch using various raw materials. Francois hired Patrick Tonge, his former used car dealer and personal 
trainer, to manage Atlantic’s CPC business, despite Tonge having no pharmaceutical training. In total, Atlantic collected over thirty-
one million dollars in claims for CPCs from TRICARE and the Federal Employee Health Benefits Program (“FEHBP”), two federal 
insurance programs. 
The government alleged that Tonge and Francois stole millions of dollars from federal healthcare programs by 

 making misrepresentations about Atlantic that allowed the pharmacy to obtain access to federal insurance networks;
 filing fraudulent claims based on invalid CPC prescriptions; and
 paying illegal kickbacks to “marketers” who then paid doctors and patients to fuel Atlantic’s CPC business.

The jury returned a verdict convicting Tonge and Francois of many of the charged offenses while acquitting each defendant of at least 
some counts. 
Atlantic’s Misrepresentations to Gain Admission to a Federal Insurance Network and Obtain a DEA Registration

TRICARE and the FEHBP contracted with a pharmacy benefit manager, Express Scripts International, to establish a network of 
healthcare providers for use by the programs’ beneficiaries. Membership in Express Scripts’s network was a requirement for 
submitting a claim to either TRICARE or the FEHBP. In obtaining these privileges for Atlantic, Francois made substantial 
misrepresentations to Express Scripts and the DEA.  If Francois had been truthful, Express Scripts would never have credentialed 
Atlantic as an in-network provider, walling it off from TRICARE and FEHBP claims. 
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Francois also lied during Atlantic’s DEA registration by asserting that his DEA license had never been suspended when in fact, it had 
been. Were it not for this lie, the DEA would have never granted Atlantic a registration allowing the pharmacy to fill and dispense 
CPC prescriptions involving controlled substances. 
Atlantic’s Fraudulent CPC Business

To receive payment from Express Scripts on any given claim, an in-network pharmacy had to satisfy two requirements: (1) the 
prescription underlying the claim had to be valid and (2) the patient had to have been charged a co-payment. For a prescription to be 
valid, a physician had to have examined the patient, the prescription needed to have been medically necessary, and the pharmacy 
needed to have been licensed in the patient’s home state. Although Francois and Tonge processed, certified, and submitted Atlantic’s 
CPC claims to Express Scripts, those claims systematically failed to meet either requirement. 
Over the life of the business, Atlantic contracted with several different “marketers” to promote its CPCs: DIRIV, PGRX, and RX. 
Atlantic’s Attempts to Conceal its Fraud

Perhaps unsurprisingly, many patients contacted Atlantic to try to return medications that they knew nothing about and neither needed 
nor wanted. To minimize losses from repayment obligations and conceal the number of attempted returns, Francois and Tonge 
adopted a policy to try to convince reluctant patients to keep their CPCs. Francois directed Tonge and another Atlantic employee, 
Amanda Lee, to tell patients that their medications were free because Atlantic was not charging any co-payment. Tonge knew that co-
payment reduction policies violated federal law because he had written himself an email explaining as much. Francois also lied to 
investigators during their search of Atlantic’s offices. Tonge deleted emails from an account he used to conduct pharmacy business 
when it became clear that Atlantic was under suspicion. 
DISCUSSION

Tonge and Francois challenge their convictions on a number of grounds, some raised by both defendants and some only by Francois. 
The court concluded that Counts One through Thirteen were sufficient as a matter of law because it used language nearly identical the 
anti-kickback statute almost word for word. In addition, Counts Fifteen through Nineteen charted relevant information for each Count, 
including the approximate date and amount of the charged kickback payments. Therefore, the indictment was legally sufficient and 
that the district court did not abuse its discretion by declining to grant Francois’s motion to dismiss. 
Prosecutorial Misconduct

Because none of the challenged remarks were misconduct and the district court properly addressed Francois’s witness intimidation 
allegations, the district court did not plainly err. 
Even if the prosecution’s remarks had been improper, they would not have been reversible error because they did not prejudice 
Francois’s substantial rights. On balance, three isolated remarks, largely cumulative of other properly admitted evidence, cannot be 
said to have “permeated the entire atmosphere” of a lengthy jury trial on plain error review. 
The Jury Instructions

The district court’s jury instruction accurately conveyed the requisite criminal state of mind under the U.S. Courts’ healthcare fraud 
precedents. The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Tonge and Francois’s proposed modifications to the pattern jury 
instruction. 
Sufficiency of the Evidence

Because the government presented overwhelming evidence that both defendants were knowing and willful participants in a complex 
scheme to defraud federal insurance programs by paying healthcare kickbacks the court concluded the evidence at trial was more than 
sufficient. 
Circumstantial evidence alone can prove agreement, including where the circumstances surrounding a person’s presence at the scene 
of conspiratorial activity are so obvious that knowledge of its character can fairly be attributed to him and the defendant commits acts 
in furtherance of the conspiracy. 
Each claim to TRICARE or the FEHBP had to satisfy three requirements: 

1. the claim had to come from an in-network pharmacy;
2. the beneficiary had to be charged a co-payment; and
3. the underlying prescription had to be valid, meaning that the prescribing physician must have examined the patient, the 

prescription must have been medically necessary, and the patient must have received the prescription in a state where the 
pharmacy was licensed to do business. 

Although none of Atlantic’s CPC claims satisfied these requirements, Francois and Tonge’s misrepresentations enabled it to collect 
over thirty-one million dollars in claims based on fraudulent prescriptions. Throughout their time at Atlantic, Tonge and Francois took 
numerous steps to minimize their losses and conceal their fraud. Atlantic implemented a policy to convince troubled patients that they 
should keep the medications Atlantic had sent them by waiving mandatory co-payments. Tonge knew that this practice was illegal and 
made a written record memorializing that knowledge but participated in the scheme regardless. 
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Despite the defendants’ attempts at concealment, the fraud at Atlantic was open and obvious. 
Multiple employees understood that something was rotten in South Florida, and at least one pharmacist quit rather than be party to 
what he viewed as obviously criminal conduct. Finally, Francois testified that he did not know that the claims were false or that 
Atlantic was paying kickbacks. The jury was within its rights to disbelieve his testimony as to both assertions. The jury received 
sufficient evidence to convict Tonge and Francois on each of the challenged counts. 
ZIFL OPINION

Perhaps because, for years, the defendants defrauded the government for amounts exceeding $32 million they had the funds to appeal 
their convictions. However, the Eleventh Circuit saw the appeal to be nothing more than “chutzpah” and disposed of the multiple 
charges of error with alacrity. It is essential that these conspirators who take advantage of innocent people entitled to TRICARE and 
Medicare benefits to prevent the ability of the defendants to profit from their crime. Their conviction was affirmed and they will, 
hopefully, serve their full sentences and make restitution to the government. 

Barry Zalma, Esq., CFE has published five days a week videos on insurance claims, insurance claims law, insurance fraud and 
insurance coverage matters at  
© 2021 – Barry Zalma 

Barry Zalma, Esq., CFE, now limits his practice to service as an insurance consultant specializing in insurance coverage, insurance 
claims handling, insurance bad faith and insurance fraud almost equally for insurers and policyholders. He also serves as an arbitrator 
or mediator for insurance related disputes. He practiced law in California for more than 44 years as an insurance coverage and claims 
handling lawyer and more than 52 years in the insurance business. He is available at http://www.zalma.com and zalma@zalma.com. 
Mr. Zalma is the first recipient of the first annual Claims Magazine/ACE Legend Award. 
Over the last 53 years Barry Zalma has dedicated his life to insurance, insurance claims and the need to defeat insurance fraud. He has 
created the following library of books and other materials to make it possible for insurers and their claims staff to become insurance 
claims professionals.
Go to the podcast Zalma On Insurance at https://anchor.fm/barry-zalma; Follow Mr. Zalma on Twitter at https://twitter.com/bzalma; 
Go to Barry Zalma videos at Rumble.com at https://rumble.com/c/c-262921; Go to Barry Zalma on YouTube-
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCysiZklEtxZsSF9DfC0Expg; Go to the Insurance Claims Library – 
https://zalma.com/blog/insurance-claims-library/ Read posts from Barry Zalma at https://parler.com/profile/Zalma/posts; and the last 
two issues of ZIFL at https://zalma.com/zalmas-insurance-fraud-letter-2/ podcast now available at 
https://podcasts.apple.com/us/podcast/zalma-on-insurance/id1509583809?uo=4

Zalma on Insurance Claims Part 109 Third Edition

This is the latest addition to Barry Zalma’s insurance claims treatise on insurance claims and is the Ninth part 
of the most thorough, up-to-date, expert-authored insurance claims guide available today. 
Written by nationally-renowned insurance coverage expert Barry Zalma, an insurance coverage attorney, 
consultant, expert witness, Certified Fraud Examiner and blogger. Zalma on Insurance Claims provides in-
depth explanations, analysis, examples, and detailed discussion of: 

 Property insurance claims
 Third-party liability claims
 Casualty claims
 Insurance Fraud
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Thorough, yet practical, this book, and the Treatise of which it is a part, is the ideal guide for any professional who works in or 
frequently interacts with the insurance industry. Claims professionals, risk managers, producers, underwriters, attorneys (both plaintiff 
and defense), and business owners will benefit greatly from this multiple volume guide. It is also the perfect resource for insurance 
educators, trainers, and students whose role requires an understanding of insurance law. 
As you read through the various volumes of Zalma on Insurance Claims, you will find comprehensive—yet comprehensible—
coverage of key topics, including:

 What is Insurance? 
 The History of Insurance 
 Bad faith 
 Conditions, 
 Warranties, 
 Exclusions 
 Declaring a policy void 
 Duties of insured and insurer 
 Evaluation and settlement 
 Identifying insurance fraud 
 Investigation 
 Kinds of insurance policies 
 Other insurance clauses 
 Preparing a case for trial 
 Processing a claim 
 Responses to fraud 
 Subrogation and salvage 
 Underwriting 

The author has provided checklists, sample procedures, form 
letters, tables and information and references to model statutes, 

state statutes, administrative regulations, and requirements of 
insurance departments nationwide. 
This, the ninth part of Zalma on 
Insurance Claims, includes 
materials concerning: 

 Identifying Insurance 
Fraud 

 Professional Conspiracies 
 Multiple Types of 

Insurance Fraud 
 How to Join the Fraud 

Fight 
 Case Studies of 

Successful Fraud 
Investigations 

 Checklist 1 – Types of Insurance Fraud 
 Checklist 2 – Red Flags of Fraud – Property Insurance 
 Checklist 3 – Red Flags of Fraud – Liability Insurance 
 Appendix A – Commonly Used Medical Acronyms 

and Abbreviations 
 Appendix B – Glossary of Medical Terms 

Available as a paperback, Kindle book or hardcover

Zalma on Insurance Claims Part 108 – Third Edition
This latest addition to Barry Zalma’s insurance claims series of books and articles is part of the most thorough, 
up-to-date, expert-authored insurance claims guide available today, the ten part treatise, Zalma on Insurance 
Claims. 
Written by nationally-renowned insurance coverage expert Barry Zalma, an insurance coverage attorney, 
consultant, expert witness and blogger, Zalma on Insurance Claims provides in-depth explanations, analysis, 
examples, and detailed discussion of: 
 Property insurance claims 
 Third-party liability claims 
 Casualty claims 
 Insurance Fraud 
Thorough, yet practical, this book is the ideal guide for any professional who works in or frequently interacts 
with the insurance industry. Claims professionals, risk managers, producers, underwriters, attorneys (both 
plaintiff and defense), and business owners will benefit greatly from this multiple volume guide. It is also the 

perfect resource for insurance educators, trainers, and students whose role requires an understanding of insurance law. 
As you read through the various volumes of Zalma on Insurance Claims, you will find comprehensive—yet comprehensible—
coverage of key topics, including: 

 What is Insurance? 
 The History of Insurance 
 Bad faith 
 Conditions, 
 Warranties, 
 Exclusions 
 Declaring a policy void 
 Duties of insured and insurer 



The Essential Resource for The Insurance Fraud Professional

Zalma’s Insurance Fraud Letter – Page 20

 Evaluation and settlement
 Identifying insurance fraud
 Investigation
 Kinds of insurance policies
 Other insurance clauses
 Preparing a case for trial
 Processing a claim
 Responses to fraud
 Subrogation and salvage
 Underwriting

The author has provided checklists, sample procedures, form letters, tables and information and references to model statutes, state 
statutes, administrative regulations, and requirements of insurance departments nationwide including in this volume: 

1. Preparing a Case for Trial
2. Involvement of the Adjuster in Defense of the Insured.
3. Conflicts of Interest Between Insured and Insurer
4. The Need to Prove the Policy
5. Interviewing Techniques
6. The Art of the Interview
7. Interview General Principles
8. The Interviewer
9. Preparing for the Interview
10. Conducting the Interview
11. Control of the Interview
12. Dealing with Witness Types
13. Interview Approaches that Work
14. Dealing with the Nervous Person
15. The Use of Bluffs in an Interview
16. The mutability of Memory
17. The Insurance Examination Under Oath

Appendices 
 Actual Interview 1: Fire Loss Witness
 Interview 2: Earthquake Loss
 Interview 3: Cross examination of Expert on False Memory
 Interview 4 Elizabeth Loftus on False Memory Syndrome 

Available as a paperback Available as a Kindle book. 

ZIFL is made available by the publisher for educational purposes only as well as to give you 
general information and a general understanding of the law, not to provide specific legal 
advice. By using ZIFL you understand that there is no attorney client relationship between 
you and the publisher. ZIFL should not be used as a substitute for competent legal advice 
from a licensed professional attorney in your state. The author and publisher disclaim any 
liability, loss, or risk incurred as a consequence, directly or indirectly, of the use and 
application of any of the contents of this blog. The information provided is not a substitute 
for the advice of a competent insurance, legal, or other professional. The Information 

provided at this site should not be relied on as legal advice. Legal advice cannot be given without full 
consideration of all relevant information relating to an individual situation.
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 A Video About the Voluntary Payments Clause November 30, 2021 
 Properly Convicted of Health Care Fraud November 30, 2021 
 The Need for Damage or Loss to Tangible Property November 29, 2021 
 A Bad Faith Claim in a Vacuum is not Actionable. November 29, 2021 
 The Perfect Gift for Your Insurance Company & Insurance Claims Clients November 27, 2021 
 The Effect of the Insured’s Breach of a Material Condition November 24, 2021 
 Admitted Crop Insurance Fraud Perpetrator Tries to Limit Restitution November 24, 2021 
 My Thanksgiving Wishes for My Family and Yours November 23, 2021 
 Acquisition of the Policy November 23, 2021 
 Pyrrhic Victory – Partial Win Makes Conviction for Insurance Fraud Easier November 23, 2021 
 Zalma on Insurance Claims – Third Edition Now Available November 22, 2021 
 Evidence Needed to Prove Fraud November 22, 2021 
 It is Fatal to Your Claim to Lie to Your Insurer November 19, 2021 
 Anti-Suit Injunction Must be Carefully Drafted November 18, 2021 
 The False Claims Act and the Qui Tam Suit November 17, 2021 
 Being Shot from a Passing Car is Not a Viable UM Claim November 17, 2021 
 Published Today – Zalma on Insurance Claims Part 109 Third Edition November 16, 2021 
 Lawyer Should Know Better – Never Lie on an Insurance Application November 16, 2021 
 Zalma’s Insurance Fraud Letter – November 15, 2021 November 15, 2021 

Fictionalized True Crime Stories of Insurance Fraud from an Expert who explains why Insurance Fraud is a “Heads I Win, Tails You 
Lose” situation for Insurers.  
Fictionalized True Crime Stories of Insurance Fraud from an Expert who explains why Insurance Fraud is a “Heads 
I Win, Tails You Lose” situation for Insurers. 
The stories help to Understand How Insurance Fraud in America is Costing Everyone who Buys Insurance 
Thousands of Dollars Every year and Why Insurance Fraud is Safer and More Profitable for the Perpetrators than 
any Other Crime. 
This book started as a collection of columns I wrote and published in the magazines “Insurance Journal,” 
“Insurance Week,” and “The John Cooke Insurance Fraud Report” insurance trade publications serving the 
insurance community in the United States. Since the last edition I have added more stories that were published in 
my twice monthly newsletter, Zalma’s Insurance Fraud Letter which is available free to anyone who clicks the links. 
Available as a Kindle Book and Available as a Paperback from Amazon.com.

Barry Zalma, Esq., CFE, now limits his practice to service as an insurance consultant specializing in insurance coverage, insurance 
claims handling, insurance bad faith and insurance fraud almost equally for insurers and policyholders. He also serves as an arbitrator 
or mediator for insurance related disputes. He practiced law in California for more than 44 years as an insurance coverage and claims 
handling lawyer and more than 54 years in the insurance business. He is available at http://www.zalma.com and zalma@zalma.com. 
Mr. Zalma is the first recipient of the first annual Claims Magazine/ACE Legend Award. 
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Over the last 54 years Barry Zalma has dedicated his life to insurance, insurance claims and the 
need to defeat insurance fraud. He has created the following library of books and other materials 
to make it possible for insurers and their claims staff to become insurance claims professionals.
Barry Zalma, Inc., 4441 Sepulveda Boulevard, CULVER CITY CA 90230-4847, 310-390-
4455;  
Subscribe to Excellence in Claims Handling at https://barryzalma.substack.com/welcome. Write 
to Mr. Zalma at zalma@zalma.com; http://www.zalma.com; http://zalma.com/blog; I publish 
daily articles at https://zalma.substack.com, Go to the podcast Zalma On Insurance at 
https://anchor.fm/barry-zalma; Follow Mr. Zalma on Twitter at https://twitter.com/bzalma; Go to 
Barry Zalma videos at Rumble.com at https://rumble.com/c/c-262921; Go to Barry Zalma on 
YouTube- https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCysiZklEtxZsSF9DfC0Expg; Go to the 
Insurance Claims Library – https://zalma.com/blog/insurance-claims-library/ Read posts 

from Barry Zalma at Go to the Insurance Claims Library – https://zalma.com/blog/insurance-claims-library/  

The concept of unintended consequences is one of the building blocks of economics. Adam Smith’s “invisible hand,” the most famous 
metaphor in social science, is an example of a positive unintended consequence.  
INSURANCE AS A NECESSITY
Neither the courts nor the governmental agencies seem to be aware that in a modern, capitalistic society, insurance is a necessity. No 
prudent person would take the risk of starting a business, buying a home, or driving a car without insurance. The risk of losing 
everything would be too great. By using insurance to spread the risk, taking the risk to start a business, buy a home, or drive a car 

becomes possible. Insurance has existed since a group of Sumerian 
farmers, more than 5,000 years ago, scratched an agreement on a clay 
tablet that if one of their number lost his crop to storms, the others would 
pay part of their earnings to the one damaged. Over the eons, insurance has 
become more sophisticated, but the deal is essentially the same. An 
insurer, whether an individual or a corporate entity, takes contributions 
(premiums) from many and holds the money to pay those few who lose 
their property from some calamity, like fire. The agreement, a written 
contract to pay indemnity to another in case a certain problem, calamity, or 
damage that is fortuitous, that is that occurs by accident, is called 
insurance. In a modern industrial society, almost everyone is involved in 
or with the business of insurance. They insure against the risk of becoming 
ill, losing a car in an accident, losing business due to fire, becoming 
disabled, losing their life, losing a home due to flood or earthquake, or 
being sued for accidentally causing injury to another. The tort of bad faith 
was created because courts felt that insurers treated their insureds badly 
and defeated the purpose for which insurance is acquired. It has served its 
purpose. Fair Claims Settlement Practices laws and regulations are now 
available to control insurers who do not act in good faith. Insurance fraud 
statutes and Regulations provide assistance to insurers who have been 
deceived by those they insure or who are victims of attempted insurance 
fraud. It is time that all contracts, including insurance contracts, are treated 
like any other contract, and insureds who believe the insurer breached the 
contract of insurance can sue to recover the benefits promised by the 
policy. Available as a paperback here. Available as a Kindle book here.


